

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## International Journal of Pharmaceutics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijpharm



## Review

## Renal targeting of kinase inhibitors

### M.E.M. Dolman<sup>a</sup>, M.M. Fretz<sup>a</sup>, G.J.W. Segers<sup>a</sup>, M. Lacombe<sup>b</sup>, J. Prakash<sup>c</sup>, G. Storm<sup>a</sup>, W.E. Hennink<sup>a</sup>, R.J. Kok<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Pharmaceutics, Utrecht Institute for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Utrecht University, Sorbonnelaan 16, 3584 CA Utrecht, The Netherlands

<sup>b</sup> KREATECH Biotechnology BV, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

<sup>c</sup> Department of Pharmacokinetics and Drug Delivery, University Center for Pharmacy, University of Groningen, The Netherlands

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 January 2008 Received in revised form 25 April 2008 Accepted 28 April 2008 Available online 4 May 2008

Keywords: Drug targeting Linker technology Coordination chemistry Kidney Drug conjugate Lysozyme

#### ABSTRACT

Activation of proximal tubular cells by fibrotic and inflammatory mediators is an important hallmark of chronic kidney disease. We have developed a novel strategy to intervene in renal fibrosis, by means of locally delivered kinase inhibitors. Such compounds will display enhanced activity within tubular cells and reduced unwanted systemic effects. In our approach kinase inhibitors are linked to the renal carrier lysozyme using a platinum-based linker that binds drugs via a coordinative linkage. Many kinase inhibitors contain aromatic nitrogen atoms able to bind to this linker without the need of prior derivatization. The resulting drug-lysozyme conjugates are rapidly filtered in the glomerulus into the tubular lumen and subsequently reabsorbed via the endocytic pathway for clearance of low-molecular weight proteins. An important property of the formed conjugates is their *in vivo* stability and the sustained drug release profile within target cells.

This review summarizes the state-of-the-art of drug targeting to the kidney. Furthermore, we will highlight recent results obtained with kinase inhibitor-lysozyme conjugates targeted to different kinases, i.e. the transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta-receptor kinase, p38 MAPkinase and Rho-associated kinase. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* results demonstrated their efficient tubular uptake and beneficial therapeutic effects, superior to treatment with free kinase inhibitors. These proof-of-concept studies clearly indicate the feasibility of drug targeting for improving the renal specificity of kinase inhibitors.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1	Introduction	250	
1. 2	Targeted renal drug delivery	250	
2.		250	
	2.1. Targeting to the glomerular cells	250	
	2.2. Targeting to tubular cells	250	
	2.3. Gene targeting to the kidney	252	
3.	Renal fibrosis	252	
4.	Design and synthesis of kinase-inhibitor-lysozyme conjugates		
5.	Biological stability drug-ULS-LZM conjugates		
6.	In vitro and in vivo effects of drug-LZM conjugates		
7.	Future perspectives	256	
8.	Conclusion	256	
	Acknowledgements	256	
	References	256	

*Abbreviations:* α-SMA, alpha-smooth muscle actin; ALK5, activin-receptor like kinase; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transdifferentiation; ESRD, end-stage renal disease; G4D, generation 4 dendrimer; HK2 cells, human kidney proximal tubule cells; HPMA, *N*-(hydroxypropyl)methylacrylamide; I/R, ischemia-reperfusion; KSCN, potassium thiocyanate; LMWC, low molecular weight chitosan; LZM, lysozyme; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; p38MAPK, p38 mitogen activated protein kinase; PAMAM, polyamidoamine; PDGF, platelet derived growth factor; PVD, poly(vinylpyrrolidone-co-dimethyl maleic acid); PVP, polyvinylpyrrolidone; ROCK, Rho-associated kinase; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TGF-β1, transforming growth factor beta-1; TIMP-1, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1; TKI, TGF-β receptor kinase inhibitor; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha; ULS, Universal Linkage System; UUO, unilateral ureteral obstruction.

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +31 30 2534724; fax: +31 30 2517839. *E-mail address*: r.j.kok@uu.nl (R.J. Kok).

0378-5173/\$ - see front matter © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.04.040

#### 1. Introduction

The number of patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) has markedly increased during the last decades (Iseki, 2005; Levey et al., 2005; Ryan et al., 2007). Partly, the increase in CKD incidence relates to the increased incidence of diabetes, systemic hypertension, and obesity (Iseki, 2005; Cignarelli and Lamacchia, 2007). In addition to this, patients develop diabetes and hypertension more frequently and at younger age, which also leads to an increased incidence of CKD (Koopman et al., 2005; Rubenstein, 2005; Burns et al., 2007). Lastly, since worldwide ageing of the population takes place, the incidence of CKD is expected to further increase (El Nahas and Bello, 2005). In many cases CKD results in renal fibrosis, characterized by inflammation and fibrosis of glomeruli and/or tubulointerstitium (Liu, 2006).

Increased insight in the pathology of renal diseases along with the development of potent antifibrotic agents may lead to improved therapies for CKD. Kinase inhibitors targeted to fibrotic signaling cascades may serve as such antifibrotic agents. However, kinase inhibitors can also display many other undesired actions within the body. A more focused action in the kidney may improve their potential effectivity for CKD. This article provides (1) a short overview of different strategies used for targeted renal drug delivery, (2) explains how kinase inhibitors can be of benefit for the treatment of renal fibrosis and how they can be targeted to the kidney, and (3) addresses future potential application areas of renal drug delivery and the linkage technology used by our group to couple the kinase inhibitors to the kidney-targeted carrier systems.

#### 2. Targeted renal drug delivery

Each kidney consists of millions of nephrons, which are the functional part of the kidney. Each nephron consists of a glomerulus, located in Bowman's capsule, and a tubular system composed of a proximal tubule, the loop of Henle and a distal tubule ending in the collecting duct. The blood is filtered in the glomerulus, where the primary urine is formed. Along the tubule, the primary urine is concentrated and many compounds are either reabsorbed or secreted from or into the urine, before it finally ends-up in the bladder.

When targeting drugs to the kidney, it is essential to identify which part of the nephron or cell type needs to be targeted. Important considerations in this are which cell types are involved in the disease pathology, the mechanism of action of the drug and the renal handling of the drug carrier system. Different targeting approaches have been investigated for the delivery of drugs to either the glomerulus or renal tubuli.

#### 2.1. Targeting to the glomerular cells

The glomerulus is in direct contact with the bloodstream. Glomerular cells can hence be targeted by intravenously administered particulate carrier systems that do not filter into the urine. Both endothelial cells which line up the vessel walls and mesangial cells can be reached from the bloodstream, because the glomerular endothelium is fenestrated and lacks a basement membrane between the glomerular capillaries and the mesangial cells. Tuffin et al. (2005, 2008) investigated the possibilities to target mesangial cells with immunoliposomes decorated with OX7 F(ab') fragments, which bind Thy 1.1. antigen expressed by this cell type. When tested in rats, a rapid clearance of the particles from the bloodstream was observed together with a significant accumulation in mesangial cells. As a proof-of-concept, tissue specific damage in the glomeruli was inflicted with OX7-immunoliposomes loaded with doxorubicin. Recently, immunoliposomes have also been used for the delivery of anti-inflammatory drugs to the glomerular endothelial cells (Asgeirsdottir et al., 2007). Successful targeting to glomerular endothelial cells was achieved by immunoliposomes decorated with anti-E-selectin antibodies, which bind to inflamed endothelium. When evaluated in a glomerulonephritis model, this type of dexamethasone-immunoliposomes inhibited proinflammatory gene expression in the glomeruli and reduced renal damage, while systemic glucocorticoid activity was diminished (Asgeirsdottir et al., 2008).

#### 2.2. Targeting to tubular cells

Targeting of drugs to the proximal tubular epithelial cells in the kidney can be relatively easily achieved from the tubular lumen, since there is no endothelial layer between the epithelial cells and the tubular fluid. Furthermore, proximal epithelial cells express high levels of internalizing receptors at their luminal membrane, which are able to take up a broad variety of the compounds that have been filtered in the glomerulus into the urine. This reabsorptive capacity of proximal tubular cells opposes the loss of valuable endogenous molecules into the urine. The efficiency of this system is for instance exemplified by the absence of glucose and proteins in the urine of normal subjects.

Glomerular filtration is the gateway to the tubular lumen, which sets a limit to the maximum size of drug carriers applicable to tubular cell targeting. It has been proven that particles with a hydrodynamic diameter below 5–7 nm are rapidly cleared by renal filtration and urinary excretion (Choi et al., 2007). As most particulate drug carriers have a size in the 10–200 nm range, renal drug targeting to tubular cells has not been studied with these systems. Rather, renal-selective proteins and small synthetic polymers have been used for renal tubular cell targeting.

One of the best-studied carriers for tubular cell drug targeting is the low molecular weight protein lysozyme. Previously, it has been shown that low molecular weight proteins with different pl such as cytochrome C. aprotinin and lysozyme are extensively accumulated in the kidney in proximal tubular epithelial cells (Haas et al., 1993). Later studies have revealed that the tubular accumulation is mediated via the megalin receptor (Christensen and Verroust, 2002). Fig. 1 shows the principle of drug targeting to the kidneys using lysozyme. After glomerular filtration lysozyme is recognized by the megalin receptor at the luminal membrane of the proximal tubular epithelial cells. Binding results in internalization and routing to the lysosomes, where degradation of lysozyme occurs. Drugs attached to lysozyme are released during this process and may act intracellularly or be transferred to the tubular lumen of the kidney. This approach has been applied successfully for delivery of drugs like the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug naproxen and the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor captopril (Haas et al., 1997; Kok et al., 1999; Prakash et al., 2005b). We will discuss this technique more extensively in a later part of this review, in relation to its application as a carrier for kinase inhibitors.

Polymeric carriers that have been described for renal drug delivery are anionized derivatives of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) (Kamada et al., 2003; Kodaira et al., 2004), and low molecular weight chitosan (LMWC) (Yuan et al., 2007). Derivatives of another type of polymer, *N*-(hydroxypropyl)methylacrylamide (HPMA), may also end-up in the kidneys when its size is below the glomerular threshold and its modification enhances interactions with renal cells (Kissel et al., 2002; Ghandehari, 2008). Lastly, dendritic polymers have been used for renal imaging and may also be of use as carrier systems for tubular drug targeting.

In vivo studies in mice have shown that low molecular weight anionized PVP derivates accumulate extensively in the proximal



**Fig. 1.** Principle of drug delivery to the kidneys with lysozyme conjugates. Nephrons are the functional part of the kidney, each consisting of a glomerulus and the renal tubuli. The glomerulus is the basic filtration unit of the kidney, responsible for the formation of a plasma ultra filtrate. In the first part of the tubule (also called the proximal tubule), reabsorption of many endogenous compounds like amino acids, glucose and proteins occurs. The property of proximal tubular cells to reabsorb small molecules is used in our delivery approach to target kinase inhibitors to the kidney. In short, after glomerular filtration drug-LZM conjugates specifically accumulate in proximal tubular epithelial cells by recognition of the megalin receptor, which is responsible for reabsorption of proteins. The megalin receptor is expressed in high density at the luminal membrane of the cells. Free drug will be released intracellularly from the conjugate after lysosomal degradation of the drug-LZM conjugate.

tubular epithelial cells (Kodaira et al., 2004). In contrast, normal neutral PVP does not accumulate in the tubular cells and is excreted in the urine. Of special importance is the type of anionic groups introduced in the PVP polymers. While carboxylated PVPs showed relatively high renal accumulation, sulfonated PVPs showed only little renal accumulation. The highest renal accumulation was obtained with 20% carboxylated PVP, of which 30% of the injected dose accumulated in the kidney. Both non-carboxylated and 100% carboxylated PVP hardly accumulated in the kidneys. Another carboxylated PVP, poly(vinylpyrrolidone-co-dimethyl maleic acid) (PVD) also showed extensive kidney accumulation (Kamada et al., 2003). Intravenous administration of PVD in mice resulted in a remarkable accumulation of almost 80% in the proximal tubular cells 24 h after administration. Approximately 60% of the administered PVD had been eliminated in the urine at 4 days after its administration, indicating that PVD stays in the body for a long time. PVD was used as a carrier for the delivery of the protein drug superoxide dismutase (SOD). The PVD-SOD conjugate showed therapeutic effects in an acute renal failure model. Until now, it has not been investigated whether this type of carrier can be applied for the delivery of small molecule drugs.

LMWC which had been randomly acetylated for 50% was used to deliver prednisolone to the renal tubular cells (Yuan et al., 2007). Delivery of prednisolone using LMWC with a molecular weight of 19 kDa resulted in the highest renal accumulation. A maximum accumulation of approximately 15% was obtained 15 min after intravenous administration in mice, which is comparable to the accumulation observed for low molecular weight proteins (as depicted in Fig. 4). The mechanism by which LMWC is being taken up by the renal tubular cells is unknown. Despite the efficient renal targeting by prednisolone-LMWC, the amount of drug in the kidneys decreased quickly, indicating the rapid release of the delivered drug from the carrier and its rapid elimination or redistribution from the renal tissue.

Another polymer for which accumulation in the kidney has been reported is HPMA. Kissel et al. (2002) investigated the in vivo biodistribution of biotinylated HPMA in rats and compared this with the biodistribution of non-biotinylated HPMA. It was found that the biodistribution profiles of 26 kDa polymers were comparable except for the kidneys, which showed an increased uptake of biotinylated HPMA at day 7 after intravenous injection. The accumulation of biotin-HPMA in proximal tubular cells was 33 times higher as compared to normal HPMA. Of note, for both polymers, the highest accumulation was found in spleen, liver and tumor. Biotin-HPMA showed a renal uptake of 4.7% of the initial dose per gram, while in case of HPMA this percentage was only 0.14%. Assuming that the weight of both kidneys in rats is about 0.9% of total body weight (de Cassia da Silveira and de Oliveira Guerra, 2007), the total accumulation of biotin-HPMA as percentage of the injected dose in both kidneys was 8.5%. The renal accumulation may be explained by the presence of a biotin transporter on the brush border of proximal tubular cells (Baur and Baumgartner, 1993), which binds the renally filtered polymers.

More recently, renal accumulation of RGD-decorated HPMA was also reported (Ghandehari, 2008). Although developed for the purpose of targeting to tumor endothelium, RGDfK-HPMA 43 kDa showed extensive renal accumulation, far exceeding the attained levels in the tumor tissue. Similar to biotinylated HPMA, a prolonged retention was found which lasted for days, indicating the slow renal degradation of these polymers.

Although dendrimers have not been investigated for renal drug targeting yet, they have been successfully applied for the purpose of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to detect structural and functional abnormalities of the kidneys (Kobayashi et al., 2004). Dendrimers that were used for the development of renal MRI contrast agents are polyamidoamine (PAMAM) and diaminobutane. PAMAM-based macromolecular MRI contrast agents with a hydrodynamic diameter of less than 8 nm were rapidly cleared from the circulation by glomerular filtration and subsequently excreted by the kidneys or taken up by the renal tubuli (Kobayashi et al., 2003, 2004). Both dendrimers of the 4th (G4D) and 5th generation were used to prepare gadolinium loaded contrast agents. When examined in mice, a rapid and extensive accumulation in the kidneys was found, with highest renal tissue levels obtained with G4D (Kobayashi et al., 2001). Although the uptake by proximal tubular cells was not studied directly, indirect evidence was obtained by simultaneous injection of G4D contrast agent and lysine, which competes for megalin binding. An increased urinary excretion of G4D was observed.

#### 2.3. Gene targeting to the kidney

Also in the field of gene delivery, attention has been given to the targeting of the glomerulus and renal tubuli. This topic has been reviewed excellently by others and we will not elaborate on this subject (see for instance Han et al., 2000; van der Wouden et al., 2004; Isaka, 2006). Examples of targeting approaches and systems that have been used for renal gene delivery are liposomes, adenoviruses, and the administration of naked plasmids or antisense oligonucleotides. Besides the choice between vectors, also the route of administration plays an important role in the renal targeting of the different cell types in the kidney (van der Wouden et al., 2004).

#### 3. Renal fibrosis

Renal fibrosis is the result of activation of renal cells by inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and proteinuria, leading to the production of chemokines, adhesion molecules and other mediators, leading to tubulointerstitial inflammation (Eddy, 2000; Strutz and Neilson, 2003). Besides inflammation, also epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) of proximal tubular epithelial cells into myofibroblasts occurs (Strutz and Neilson, 2003). Stimulation of fibroblasts by cytokines and growth factors (e.g. TGF- $\beta$ , CTGF, PDGF, and EGF) leads to the excessive formation of extracellular matrix and the replacement of nephrons by scar tissue (Eddy, 2000; Strutz and Neilson, 2003).

Although the kidneys have an overcapacity of nephrons, it is not infinite and loss of kidney function eventually can lead to the development of end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Patients with ESRD need renal replacement therapy, by dialysis or transplantation, which is a high burden for the patient and very expensive (El Nahas and Bello, 2005).

One of the approaches in the treatment of renal fibrosis is prevention by treatment of the underlying cause, e.g. hypertension or diabetes mellitus. However, since renal diseases are often diagnosed at a late stage, it is also important to develop other therapeutic possibilities to arrest the progression of renal fibrosis, or even to reverse it. Activation of proximal tubular epithelial cells leading to the onset of different signaling pathways plays an important role in the progression of renal fibrosis. Kinases play an important role in these signaling pathways, and offer an interesting target in the treatment of renal fibrosis (Sharpe and Hendry, 2003; Hayashi et al., 2006; Liu, 2006; Burns et al., 2007). Both *in vitro* studies with proximal tubular cells and studies in animal models have shown the beneficial effects of kinase inhibitors in renal fibrotic disease (Francois et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2005; Prakash et al., 2006, 2008a,b; De Borst et al., 2007). We therefore have investigated the specific targeting of kinase inhibitors to the proximal tubular cells. Targeted delivery of kinase inhibitors has several potential benefits. Firstly, high concentrations of kinase inhibitors in the proximal tubular epithelial cells will result in an enhanced efficacy within the kidneys. Secondly, specific targeting will reduce unwanted systemic effects. Until now kinase inhibitors are only clinically used for the treatment of cancer (Madhusudan and Ganesan, 2004; Ross et al., 2004; Keri et al., 2005). Kinase inhibitors are considered targeted drugs. However, this targeted feature refers to their specific mode of action (Fabian et al., 2005), rather than to targeted delivery. Kinase inhibitors are not cell- or tissue specific, and will thus act in both unhealthy and healthy cells in which the molecular target is expressed and activated. Kinases play an important role in many physiological processes in the human body (Harper and LoGrasso, 2001; Adams and Sweatt, 2002; Vlahos et al., 2003) and, consequentially, their inhibition in healthy cells may result in adverse effects. Recently, it has been shown that tyrosine kinase inhibitors are associated with cardiotoxicity (Kerkela et al., 2006; Force et al., 2007), bleeding, and neurological complications (Eskens and Verweij, 2006). An example of such an inhibitor is the well-known breakpoint cluster region-Abelson (BCR-ABL) tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib (Kerkela et al., 2006; Force et al., 2007). One of the techniques used to prevent cardiac toxicity of imatinib is structural reengineering, which yielded a derivative with an altered kinase inhibitory profile (Fernandez et al., 2007). This new compound showed decreased cardiac side effects but maintained the antitumor properties of imatinib. Adverse reactions can be divided in on-target and off-target side effects. Once the toxicity of the kinase inhibitor is directly related to the intended pharmacological response it is called an 'on-target' side effect. Off-target side effects are related to inhibition of off-target kinases or to other nonkinase dependent mechanisms (Temming et al., 2008). Structural reengineering is a valid approach for drug molecules in which the toxicity can be dissected from the intrinsic activity of the compound but cannot be used to reduce toxicity directly associated with the pharmacological activity. In the latter case, cell-specific targeting of kinase inhibitors is an attractive approach.

# 4. Design and synthesis of kinase-inhibitor-lysozyme conjugates

When using a carrier system for the specific targeting of kinase inhibitors to the proximal tubular cells, it is important to use a carrier which is biodegradable. If a polymeric carrier is poorly degradable, its lysosomal accumulation may result in toxicity of the carrier. Proteins are natural polymers which display excellent lysosomal biodegradability, while in case of many synthetic polymers a lack of biodegradability is a concern. We therefore applied the low molecular weight protein lysozyme as tubular cell-specific carrier for the delivery of kinase inhibitors.

Kinase inhibitors were linked to lysozyme using the platinum(II)-based Universal Linkage System (ULS<sup>TM</sup>) as a new coupling agent (Prakash et al., 2006, 2008a; Fretz et al., 2007). ULS binds to thioether groups (present in methionine residues of the proteinaceous carrier) and to aromatic nitrogens. Many kinase inhibitors contain an aromatic nitrogen atom, and can therefore be coupled to ULS via a coordinative bond without prior derivatization steps. An important property of platinum–ligand bindings is that coordinative bindings dissociate very slowly, thereby providing adequate stability of the conjugates (Prakash et al., 2006; Gonzalo et al., 2007; Reedijk, 2008). On the other hand, the platinum



**Fig. 2.** Reaction scheme of the linkage of gefitinib to the platinum linker, and its subsequent conjugation to lysozyme by reaction to methionine residues in lysozyme. Gefitinib was reacted with ULS in DMF at 37 °C for 9 h. During this reaction the platinum atom in ULS bound the aromatic nitrogen atom present in gefitinib. After characterization and purification of gefitinib-ULS, gefitinib-LZM was synthesized by reacting gefitinib-ULS to methionine-LZM for 24 h at 37 °C and pH 8.5. The platinum atom in ULS bound the thioether present in the methionine residue of LZM.

coordination bonds are also bioreversible and can intracellularly release the conjugated drug via competitive displacement with glutathione (Gonzalo et al., 2006; Temming et al., 2006b).

Fig. 2 shows the linkage of the kinase inhibitor gefitinib (Iressa<sup>®</sup>) to the platinum linker, and the subsequent conjugation of gefitinib-ULS to lysozyme. Typically, these conjugates are synthesized by coupling the drug to the platinum linker at a slight excess of the drug. Consumption of the parent drug is detected by HPLC analysis of small aliquots of the reaction mixture. Once the reaction has been completed, the remaining traces of non-reacted linker were precipitated by addition of NaCl, yielding the poorly watersoluble ULS-dichloride linker. Gefitinib-ULS was synthesized using equimolar amounts of ULS and gefitinib and subsequently coupled to methionine groups in lysozyme by overnight incubation at 37 °C.

Although lysozyme contains two methionine residues, the protein does not bind drug-ULS readily since these residues are buried in the core of the protein. We therefore introduced surface-exposed methionine residues into lysozyme by chemical derivatization of lysyl residues with methionine-NHS. Such a chemically derivatized methionine-lysozyme (met-LZM) carrier prototype can be replaced in the future by a recombinantly produced protein with surface-accessible Pt(II) targets. Typically, the chemical derivatization of LZM yielded a carrier equipped with approximately one extra methionine residue, as determined by mass spectrometry (Prakash et al., 2006).

HPLC analysis of gefitinib-LZM provided a broad peak (Fig. 3B), likely consisting of different topological isomers. Those isomers result from the ability of methionine-NHS to bind to different lysine residues in lysozyme, and also have been observed for other types

## of lysozyme-derivatives (Salmain et al., 2001; Masuda et al., 2005; Teske et al., 2007).

Incubation with an excess of KSCN, a known ligand for platinum, resulted in drug release from the conjugate by competitive displacement (Fig. 3C). This result clearly demonstrates that binding of gefitinib to LZM via ULS is reversible. Similar results were obtained for other kinase inhibitor conjugates. On the other hand, no release of the drug was observed upon incubation of drug-ULS-LZM conjugates in PBS for up to 24 h and at 37 °C. This indicates adequate stability of the conjugates during storage (Prakash et al., 2006; Temming et al., 2006a,b; Gonzalo et al., 2007).

#### 5. Biological stability drug-ULS-LZM conjugates

The biological stability of drug-ULS-LZM conjugates has been studied by *in vitro* incubation of conjugates in either rat serum or kidney homogenates, or by incubating the conjugates in 5 mM glutathione (Gonzalo et al., 2006; Prakash et al., 2006). Typically, less than 2% release of the drug was observed upon incubation in serum for up to 24 h at 37 °C (Prakash et al., 2006, 2008a). On the other hand, slow-release of the coupled drug was observed in the presence of competing glutathione or in the presence of kidney homogenate (at pH 5.0 and 7.4), suggesting that the drug can be released once the conjugates have been reabsorbed by proximal tubular cells (Gonzalo et al., 2006; Prakash et al., 2006).

Adequate stability in the circulation can be expected on the basis of two observations: firstly, the *in vitro* drug release rate in serum is much slower than the rate at which the conjugates will be accumulated in proximal tubular cells. While the  $t_{1/2}$  of drug



**Fig. 3.** HPLC chromatograms of free gefitinib (A), gefitinib-ULS-LZM (B) and gefitinib-ULS-LZM after incubation with an excess of KSCN at 80  $^{\circ}$ C (C). Compared to free gefitinib (A) the conjugate gives a broad peak, consisting of different topological isomers (B). This results from the ability of methionine-NHS to bind to different lysine residues in lysozyme. Subpart B also shows there is no free gefitinib present after synthesizing the conjugate, as shown by the absence of a peak at a retention time of approximately 10 min. Neither is gefitinib-ULS present, which gives peaks at 8.7, 10.4 and 11.9 min (data not shown). It furthermore can be concluded that binding of gefitinib to LZM via ULS is reversible, as shown by subpart C which shows the disappearance of the gefitinib-LZM peak and reappearance of the parent drug after competitive drug displacement with KSCN. Samples were separated on a C<sub>4</sub> reversed-phase column, using a water-acetonitrile-trifluoroacetic acid gradient, and monitored at a wavelength of 270 nm.

release is in the order of days, drug-lysozyme conjugates disappear from the circulation with a  $t_{1/2}$  of 25 min, providing maximal renal accumulation within 2 h (Kok et al., 1999; Prakash et al., 2005b). Secondly, the drug release rate in kidney homogenate was much higher than the release in serum, in line with the different levels of thiols in both matrices (Prakash et al., 2006). We confirmed these expectations in our pharmacokinetic studies with drug-LZM conjugates prepared with three different kinase inhibitors, directed to either p38 MAPkinase, TGF- $\beta$  type 1 receptor kinase (ALK5) or Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) (Prakash et al., 2006, 2008a,c). These conjugates showed similar distribution and clearance profiles to the lysozyme carrier, and accumulated in the kidneys at about 20% of the injected doses (Fig. 4) in the first hours (1-6h) post injection (Prakash et al., 2006). Furthermore, we observed a prolonged residence of the delivered drug within the kidneys, as evidenced by the persistence of renal drug levels of the p38MAPK inhibitor SB202190 for several days after a single dose administration (Prakash et al., 2006). Pharmacokinetic data of the free kinase inhibitors are not available and we have not performed in depth pharmacokinetic studies for each of the individual test drugs, due to the large amounts needed of these costly compounds. However, the direct intravenous administration of one of these compounds, SB202190, showed that less than 0.5% of the free drug accumulated in the kidneys (Prakash et al., 2005a). The renal accumulation of the SB-LZM conjugate therefore greatly exceeded the accumulation of the free drug, indicating the feasibility of our targeting approach.

The biodistribution of drug-lysozyme conjugates to other organs has also been investigated. Immunostaining for drug-lysozyme conjugates showed the absence of the conjugate in liver, spleen and lungs (Prakash et al., 2008a). The preferential renal accumulation can be explained by the rapid glomerular filtration of low



**Fig. 4.** Renal accumulation levels of drug-LZM conjugates. Single dose intravenous injection in rats with three different conjugates resulted in comparative renal accumulation. Shown values are the average values of renal  $C_{max}$ , as calculated from the renal concentrations between 1 and 6 h (mean ± S.E.M.) (Prakash et al., 2006, 2008a,c).

molecular weight proteins, and the efficient tubular reabsorption via megalin. Although megalin is predominantly expressed by the proximal tubular cells in the kidney and much lower levels of expression are found in other cell types, such as epithelial cells of the small intestine (Christensen and Verroust, 2002), this does not largely diminish the renal accumulation of lysozyme. A plausible explanation is that the megalin receptor is expressed at the luminal side of the epithelial cells of the small intestine making it not accessible for intravenously administered lysozyme.

#### 6. In vitro and in vivo effects of drug-LZM conjugates

The above-mentioned conjugates directed to profibrotic cascades, TKI-LZM, SB202190-LZM and Y27632-LZM, have been investigated for efficacy *in vitro* in cultured kidney cells and *in vivo* in rats.

The first conjugate, TKI-LZM, is a TGF- $\beta$  type I receptor kinase inhibitor. TGF- $\beta$  plays a pivotal role in renal fibrosis by inducing synthesis of matrix proteins and by decreasing their degradation. It furthermore induces tubular epithelial-to-mesenchymal transdifferentiation (EMT) and the proliferation of fibroblasts (Fan et al., 1999; Bottinger and Bitzer, 2002; Razzaque et al., 2002; Laping, 2003; Docherty et al., 2006). Recent in vitro and in vivo experiments demonstrated the inhibitory effects of TKI-LZM on the MCP-1 mRNA expression and on the fibrosis marker  $\alpha$ -SMA (Prakash et al., 2008a). We furthermore demonstrated that TKI-LZM effectively inhibited the phosphorylation of Smad2, a downstream target of the activated TGF-β receptor, in HK2 cells (Fig. 5). We found a reduction in TGF-B1-induced phosphorylation of Smad2 of approximately 50% when treated with TKI-LZM. In case of an equimolar concentration of unbound TKI a reduction of approximately 95% was found. An explanation for the relative higher potency of the free drug is that TKI-LZM needs to be internalized and processed by the cells to release free drug from the conjugate. In contrast, unbound TKI can readily pass the cell membranes by passive diffusion because of its relatively high lipophilicity (calculated  $\log P$  is 2.85). The pharmacological superiority of TKI-LZM can therefore not be demonstrated



**Fig. 5.** Effects of TKI and TKI-LZM on TGF- $\beta$ 1-induced phosphorylation of Smad2. Cells were grown to 80% confluency in a 6-well plate and then deprived from serum for 24 h. Cells were preincubated for 24 h with TKI-LZM (10  $\mu$ M) or for 30 min with TKI (10  $\mu$ M) and then activated with 10 ng/ml TGF- $\beta$ 1 for 30 min. Phospho-Smad2 levels were detected by anti-phospho-Smad2 Western blotting (Cell Signaling Antibody #3101S) directed to phosphorylated amino acids in Smad2 (Ser465 and Ser467) and normalized to resting cells by  $\beta$ -actin levels (white bar).

#### Table 1

In vivo inhibitory effects of drug-LZM conjugates on profibrotic markers

Animal model + conjugate	Gene expression	Immunohistochemical markers
UUO + TKI-LZM	MCP-1↓	$\begin{array}{l} \alpha \text{-SMA} \downarrow \\ Macrophage influx} \downarrow \\ Vimentin \downarrow \end{array}$
I/R + SB202190-LZM		α-SMA↓ p-p38↓
I/R + Y27632-LZM	$\begin{array}{l} MCP-1 \downarrow \downarrow \\ Procollagen I\alpha 1 \downarrow \\ TGF-\beta 1 \downarrow \\ TIMP-1 \downarrow \\ \alpha-SMA \downarrow \downarrow \end{array}$	Macrophage influx ↓ Vimentin ↓

In vivo experiments are performed in the unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO) rat model and ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) rat model. Mentioned profibrotic markers in this table are elevated in both animal models. The symbol  $\downarrow$  means drug treatment resulted in a significant decrease in gene expression or immunohistochemical staining up to 50%, the symbol  $\downarrow\downarrow$  means a decrease of 50–90%. All results reported in this table are against non-treated control animals. UUO rats were injected intravenously with a single dose of 25 mg/kg TKI-LZM (equivalent to 630 µg/kg TKI). Rats were sacrificed after 3 days. Treatment with TKI-LZM resulted in a decrease in the gene expression level of MCP-1 and a decrease in  $\alpha$ -SMA, macrophage influx and vimentin (Prakash et al., 2008a). Treatment of I/R rats with a single intravenous injection of 32 mg/kg SB202190-LZM (equivalent to 752 µg/kg free SB202190) resulted in a decrease in α-SMA and p-p38 4 days after administration (Prakash et al., 2006). In case of Y27632-LZM I/R rats were daily treated with an intravenous injection of 20 mg/kg conjugate (equivalent to  $555\,\mu\text{g}/\text{kg}$  Y27632) for four days. Treatment resulted in a decrease in gene expression levels of MCP-1, Procollagen Iα1, TGF-β1, TIMP-1 and  $\alpha$ -SMA and in a decrease of vimentin and macrophage influx (Prakash et al., 2008c).

*in vitro*, but requires *in vivo* testing in which local delivery provides increased concentrations of TKI in the kidneys.

The second investigated drug-LZM conjugate is SB202190-LZM, which targets the p38MAPK pathway. *In vitro* research in HK2 cells demonstrated a reduction in TGF- $\beta$ 1 induced procollagen-I $\alpha$ 1 mRNA expression. Single dose administration of SB202190-LZM in a unilateral renal ischemia–reperfusion rat model resulted in a reduction of intrarenal p38MAPK phosphorylation and  $\alpha$ -SMA protein expression (Prakash et al., 2006).

The third conjugate investigated, prepared with the Rho kinase inhibitor Y27632, has also been evaluated in the unilateral renal ischemia-reperfusion rat model (Prakash et al., 2008c). Upon daily treatment for four days, Y27632-LZM improved histological parameters as well as gene-expression levels of fibrotic and inflammatory markers. The collective results of the three conjugates have been summarized in Table 1. In all studies the reported effects were compared to untreated control animals. Inhibitory effects were detected on gene expression levels of profibrotic and inflammatory mediators and genes related to extracellular matrix production, and on immunohistochemical markers of fibrosis and EMT. Furthermore a reduction in the number of infiltrated macrophages was observed, indicating that renal inflammation had been inhibited. No antifibrotic effects of lysozyme were observed in control experiments with cultured tubular cells, while kinase inhibitorlysozyme conjugates are clearly effective. This illustrates that the observed effects can be attributed to the attached drug, rather than to the carrier itself. Windt et al. (2004) investigated the antifibrotic effects of lysozyme, and a captopril-lysozyme conjugate in vivo in adriamycin-induced proteinuric rats. It was found that captopril-LZM had antifibrotic effects, while lysozyme alone had no effects.

We also investigated the safety of the applied platinum-linker. Obviously, this is a serious concern in light of the information available on the nephrotoxicity of cisplatin-based cytostatics. Cisplatinum exerts its effect by cross-linking DNA, which is the result of the availability of free reactive sites at the platinum atom (Temming et al., 2008). No toxic effects were observed when studying the acute toxicity of SB202190-LZM in rats (Prakash et al., 2006).

#### 7. Future perspectives

Drug targeting may play an important role in the development of more specific agents for the treatment of all kinds of renal diseases. Renal drug targeting aims for a higher efficacy of the drug along with avoidance of unacceptable side effects. Different drug targeting approaches are attractive, depending on the type of kidney cells that are involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. Liposomal carriers seem promising systems for glomerular targeting. For drug targeting to the proximal tubular cells, carboxylated PVP derivates, 4th generation dendrimers and small proteins like lysozyme are promising carrier systems. These carrier systems exploit the rapid glomerular filtration of medium-sized macromolecules and give a high renal accumulation. The advantage of proteinaceous carriers is that they are efficiently degraded in the lysosomes of the target cells.

Although not described extensively in this article, targeted gene delivery also offers interesting possibilities for inhibiting renal diseases processes. As compared to other organs, an advantage of targeting to the kidneys is that the proximal tubular cells are able to reabsorb different substances including nucleic acids.

This paper discussed a new type of kinase inhibitor-lysozyme conjugates for the delivery of kinase inhibitors to tubular cells in the kidney. These products may find future application in the treatment of renal fibrosis and other types of kidney diseases. Besides kinase inhibitors, other types of drugs can be linked via the ULS linker technology to lysozyme, as long as the drugs contain an aromatic nitrogen atom or other donor group that can coordinate to platinum. Also other carriers than lysozyme can be used, directed to the kidney cells or to other types of target cells outside the kidney, providing that the linker can be reacted to the carrier system. We already have explored two other classes of kinase-inhibitorcarrier conjugates, either directed to angiogenic endothelial cells in tumors or to hepatic stellate cells in the liver (Temming et al., 2006a; Gonzalo et al., 2007). In the near future, we will explore the feasibility of targeting kinase inhibitors to tumor cells, by means of monoclonal antibody carriers.

#### 8. Conclusion

Renal drug targeting is an interesting technique for improving the treatment of renal diseases for which no adequate therapies exist, such as renal fibrosis. Both glomerular and tubular targeting strategies have been developed successfully. A great part of the kidney consists of specialized tubular cells, able to reabsorb endogenous compounds from the tubular lumen by receptormediated uptake. The unique properties of this cell type offer good opportunities for tubular cell-specific drug delivery, exemplified in this manuscript by the megalin-mediated uptake of lysozyme-drug conjugates. This targeting approach makes it possible to specifically deliver kinase inhibitors, but also other drugs, to the kidney.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was made possible by a grant from the European Framework program FP6 (LSHB-CT-2007-036644). We thank Mies van Steenbergen for his technical assistance in performing chromatographic experiments.

#### References

- Adams, J.P., Sweatt, J.D., 2002. Molecular psychology: roles for the ERK MAP kinase cascade in memory. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 42, 135–163.
- Asgeirsdottir, S.A., Kamps, J.A., Bakker, H.I., Zwiers, P.J., Heeringa, P., van der Weide, K., van Goor, H., Petersen, A.H., Morselt, H., Moorlag, H.E., Steenbergen, E., Kallenberg, C.G., Molema, G., 2007. Site-specific inhibition of glomerulonephritis progression by targeted delivery of dexamethasone to glomerular endothelium. Mol. Pharmacol. 72, 121–131.
- Asgeirsdottir, S.A., Zwiers, P.J., Morselt, H.W., Moorlag, H.E., Bakker, H.I., Heeringa, P., Kok, J.W., Kallenberg, C.G., Molema, G., Kamps, J.A., 2008. Inhibition of proinflammatory genes in anti-GBM glomerulonephritis by targeted dexamethasone-loaded AbEsel liposomes. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 294, F554–561.
- Baur, B., Baumgartner, E.R., 1993. Na(+)-dependent biotin transport into brushborder membrane vesicles from human kidney cortex. Pflugers Arch. 422, 499–505.
- Bottinger, E.P., Bitzer, M., 2002. TGF-beta signaling in renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 2600–2610.
- Burns, W.C., Kantharidis, P., Thomas, M.C., 2007. The role of tubular epithelial-mesenchymal transition in progressive kidney disease. Cells Tissues Organs 185, 222–231.
- Choi, H.S., Liu, W., Misra, P., Tanaka, E., Zimmer, J.P., Itty Ipe, B., Bawendi, M.G., Frangioni, J.V., 2007. Renal clearance of quantum dots. Nat. Biotechnol. 25, 1165–1170.
- Christensen, E.I., Verroust, P.J., 2002. Megalin and cubilin, role in proximal tubule function and during development. Pediatr. Nephrol. 17, 993–999.
- Cignarelli, M., Lamacchia, O., 2007. Obesity and kidney disease. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 17, 757–762.
- De Borst, M., Prakash, J., Melenhorst, W., van den Heuvel, M., Kok, R., Navis, G., van Goor, H., 2007. Glomerular and tubular induction of the transcription factor c-Jun in human renal disease. J. Pathol. 213, 219–228.
- de Cassia da Silveira, E.S.R., de Oliveira Guerra, M., 2007. Reproductive toxicity of lapachol in adult male Wistar rats submitted to short-term treatment. Phytother. Res. 21, 658–662.
- Docherty, N.G., O'Sullivan, O.E., Healy, D.A., Murphy, M., O'Neill, A.J., Fitzpatrick, J.M., Watson, R.W., 2006. TGF-beta1-induced EMT can occur independently of its proapoptotic effects and is aided by EGF receptor activation. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 290, F1202–F1212.
- Eddy, A.A., 2000. Molecular basis of renal fibrosis. Pediatr. Nephrol. 15, 290-301.
- El Nahas, M.A., Bello, A.K., 2005. Chronic kidney disease: the global challenge. Lancet 365, 331–340.
- Eskens, F.A., Verweij, J., 2006. The clinical toxicity profile of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) targeting angiogenesis inhibitors; a review. Eur. J. Cancer 42, 3127–3139.
- Fabian, M.A., Biggs III, W.H., Treiber, D.K., Atteridge, C.E., Azimioara, M.D., Benedetti, M.G., Carter, T.A., Ciceri, P., Edeen, P.T., Floyd, M., Ford, J.M., Galvin, M., Gerlach, J.L., Grotzfeld, R.M., Herrgard, S., Insko, D.E., Insko, M.A., Lai, A.G., Lelias, J.M., Mehta, S.A., Milanov, Z.V., Velasco, A.M., Wodicka, L.M., Patel, H.K., Zarrinkar, P.P., Lockhart, D.J., 2005. A small molecule-kinase interaction map for clinical kinase inhibitors. Nat. Biotechnol. 23, 329–336.
- Fan, J.M., Ng, Y.Y., Hill, P.A., Nikolic-Paterson, D.J., Mu, W., Atkins, R.C., Lan, H.Y., 1999. Transforming growth factor-beta regulates tubular epithelial-myofibroblast transdifferentiation *in vitro*. Kidney Int. 56, 1455–1467.
- Fernandez, A., Sanguino, A., Peng, Z., Ozturk, E., Chen, J., Crespo, A., Wulf, S., Shavrin, A., Qin, C., Ma, J., Trent, J., Lin, Y., Han, H.D., Mangala, L.S., Bankson, J.A., Gelovani, J., Samarel, A., Bornmann, W., Sood, A.K., Lopez-Berestein, G., 2007. An anticancer C-Kit kinase inhibitor is reengineered to make it more active and less cardiotoxic. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 4044–4054.
- Force, T., Krause, D.S., Van Etten, R.A., 2007. Molecular mechanisms of cardiotoxicity of tyrosine kinase inhibition. Nat. Rev. Cancer 7, 332–344.
- Francois, H., Placier, S., Flamant, M., Tharaux, P.L., Chansel, D., Dussaule, J.C., Chatziantoniou, C., 2004. Prevention of renal vascular and glomerular fibrosis by epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition. FASEB J. 18, 926–928.
- Fretz, M.M., Prakash, J., Dolman, M.E.M., Lacombe, M., de Borst, M.H., van Goor, H., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2007. Renal Delivery of Kinase Inhibitors Ameliorates Experimental Inflammation and Fibrosis. ASN Renal Week 2007, October 31–November 5 Abstract SU-FC141.
- Ghandehari, H., 2008. Polymer–peptide conjugates for targeted delivery to sites of angiogenesis. In: European Symposium on Controlled Drug Delivery, Noordwijk, The Nederlands, April 2–4 2008.
- Gonzalo, T., Beljaars, L., van de Bovenkamp, M., Temming, K., van Loenen, A.M., Reker-Smit, C., Meijer, D.K., Lacombe, M., Opdam, F., Keri, G., Orfi, L., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2007. Local inhibition of liver fibrosis by specific delivery of a platelet-derived growth factor kinase inhibitor to hepatic stellate cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 321, 856–865.
- Gonzalo, T., Talman, E.G., van de Ven, A., Temming, K., Greupink, R., Beljaars, L., Reker-Smit, C., Meijer, D.K., Molema, G., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2006. Selective targeting of pentoxifylline to hepatic stellate cells using a novel platinum-based linker technology. J. Control Release 111, 193–203.
- Haas, M., de Zeeuw, D., van Zanten, A., Meijer, D.K., 1993. Quantification of renal lowmolecular-weight protein handling in the intact rat. Kidney Int. 43, 949–954.
- Haas, M., Kluppel, A.C., Wartna, E.S., Moolenaar, F., Meijer, D.K., de Jong, P.E., de Zeeuw, D., 1997. Drug-targeting to the kidney: renal delivery and degradation of a naproxen-lysozyme conjugate *in vivo*. Kidney Int. 52, 1693–1699.

- Han, D.C., Hoffman, B.B., Hong, S.W., Guo, J., Ziyadeh, F.N., 2000. Therapy with antisense TGF-beta1 oligodeoxynucleotides reduces kidney weight and matrix mRNAs in diabetic mice. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 278, F628–F634.
- Harper, S.J., LoGrasso, P., 2001. Signalling for survival and death in neurones: the role of stress-activated kinases, INK and p38. Cell Signal. 13, 299–310.
- Hayashi, K., Wakino, S., Kanda, T., Homma, K., Sugano, N., Saruta, T., 2006. Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic strategies of chronic renal injury: role of rho-kinase in the development of renal injury. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 100, 29–33.
- Isaka, Y., 2006. Gene therapy targeting kidney diseases: routes and vehicles. Clin. Exp. Nephrol. 10, 229–235.
- Iseki, K., 2005. Factors influencing the development of end-stage renal disease. Clin. Exp. Nephrol. 9, 5–14.
- Kamada, H., Tsutsumi, Y., Sato-Kamada, K., Yamamoto, Y., Yoshioka, Y., Okamoto, T., Nakagawa, S., Nagata, S., Mayumi, T., 2003. Synthesis of a poly(vinylpyrrolidoneco-dimethyl maleic anhydride) co-polymer and its application for renal drug targeting. Nat. Biotechnol. 21, 399–404.
- Keri, G., Szekelyhidi, Z., Banhegyi, P., Varga, Z., Hegymegi-Barakonyi, B., Szantai-Kis, C., Hafenbradl, D., Klebl, B., Muller, G., Ullrich, A., Eros, D., Horvath, Z., Greff, Z., Marosfalvi, J., Pato, J., Szabadkai, I., Szilagyi, I., Szegedi, Z., Varga, I., Waczek, F., Orfi, L., 2005. Drug discovery in the kinase inhibitory field using the Nested Chemical Library technology. Assay Drug Dev. Technol. 3, 543–551.
- Kerkela, R., Grazette, L., Yacobi, R., Iliescu, C., Patten, R., Beahm, C., Walters, B., Shevtsov, S., Pesant, S., Clubb, F.J., Rosenzweig, A., Salomon, R.N., Van Etten, R.A., Alroy, J., Durand, J.B., Force, T., 2006. Cardiotoxicity of the cancer therapeutic agent imatinib mesylate. Nat. Med. 12, 908–916.
- Kissel, M., Peschke, P., Subr, V., Ulbrich, K., Strunz, A.M., Kuhnlein, R., Debus, J., Friedrich, E., 2002. Detection and cellular localisation of the synthetic soluble macromolecular drug carrier pHPMA. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging 29, 1055–1062.
- Kobayashi, H., Jo, S.K., Kawamoto, S., Yasuda, H., Hu, X., Knopp, M.V., Brechbiel, M.W., Choyke, P.L., Star, R.A., 2004. Polyamine dendrimer-based MRI contrast agents for functional kidney imaging to diagnose acute renal failure. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 20, 512–518.
- Kobayashi, H., Kawamoto, S., Jo, S.K., Bryant Jr., H.L., Brechbiel, M.W., Star, R.A., 2003. Macromolecular MRI contrast agents with small dendrimers: pharmacokinetic differences between sizes and cores. Bioconjug. Chem. 14, 388–394.
- Kobayashi, H., Sato, N., Kawamoto, S., Saga, T., Hiraga, A., Ishimori, T., Konishi, J., Togashi, K., Brechbiel, M.W., 2001. Novel intravascular macromolecular MRI contrast agent with generation-4 polyamidoamine dendrimer core: accelerated renal excretion with coinjection of lysine. Magn. Reson. Med. 46, 457–464.
- Kodaira, H., Tsutsumi, Y., Yoshioka, Y., Kamada, H., Kaneda, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Tsunoda, S., Okamoto, T., Mukai, Y., Shibata, H., Nakagawa, S., Mayumi, T., 2004. The targeting of anionized polyvinylpyrrolidone to the renal system. Biomaterials 25, 4309–4315.
- Kok, R.J., Grijpstra, F., Walthuis, R.B., Moolenaar, F., de Zeeuw, D., Meijer, D.K., 1999. Specific delivery of captopril to the kidney with the prodrug captopril-lysozyme. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 288, 281–285.
- Koopman, R.J., Mainous III, A.G., Diaz, V.A., Geesey, M.E., 2005. Changes in age at diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the United States, 1988 to 2000. Ann. Fam. Med. 3, 60–63.
- Laping, N.J., 2003. ALK5 inhibition in renal disease. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 3, 204–208.
- Levey, A.S., Eckardt, K.U., Tsukamoto, Y., Levin, A., Coresh, J., Rossert, J., De Zeeuw, D., Hostetter, T.H., Lameire, N., Eknoyan, G., 2005. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int. 67, 2089–2100.
- Liu, Y., 2006. Renal fibrosis: new insights into the pathogenesis and therapeutics. Kidney Int. 69, 213–217.
- Madhusudan, S., Ganesan, T.S., 2004. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors in cancer therapy. Clin. Biochem. 37, 618–635.
- Masuda, T., Ide, N., Kitabatake, N., 2005. Effects of chemical modification of lysine residues on the sweetness of lysozyme. Chem. Senses 30, 253–264.
- Prakash, J., de Borst, M.H., Lacombe, M., Opdam, F., Klok, P.A., van Goor, H., Meijer, D.K., Moolenaar, F., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2008c. Renally targeted Y27632 inhibits ischemia/reperfusion-induced tubular damage, inflammation and fibrosis. JASN, accepted.
- Prakash, J., de Borst, M.H., van Loenen-Weemaes, A.M., Lacombe, M., Opdam, F., van Goor, H., Meijer, D.K., Moolenaar, F., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2008a. Cell-specific delivery of a transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor kinase inhibitor to proximal tubular cells for the treatment of renal fibrosis. Pharm. Res. 25, 2427–2439.

- Prakash, J., Poelstra, K., van Goor, H., Moolenaar, F., Meijer, D.K., Kok, R.J., 2008b. Novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of tubulointerstitial fibrosis. Curr. Signal Trans. Ther. 3, 97–111.
- Prakash, J., Saluja, V., Visser, J., Moolenaar, F., Meijer, D.K., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2005a. Bioanalysis and pharmacokinetics of the p38 MAPkinase inhibitor SB202190 in rats. J. Chromatogr. B: Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 826, 220–225.
- Prakash, J., Sandovici, M., Saluja, V., Lacombe, M., Schaapveld, R.Q., de Borst, M.H., van Goor, H., Henning, R.H., Proost, J.H., Moolenaar, F., Keri, G., Meijer, D.K., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2006. Intracellular delivery of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor SB202190 [4-(4-fluorophenyl)-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-5-(4-pyridyl)1H-imidazole] in renal tubular cells: a novel strategy to treat renal fibrosis. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 319, 8–19.
- Prakash, J., van Loenen-Weemaes, A.M., Haas, M., Proost, J.H., Meijer, D.K., Moolenaar, F., Poelstra, K., Kok, R.J., 2005b. Renal-selective delivery and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition by subcutaneously administered captopril-lysozyme. Drug Metab. Dispos. 33, 683–688.
- Razzaque, M.S., Ahsan, N., Taguchi, T., 2002. Role of apoptosis in fibrogenesis. Nephron 90, 365–372.
- Reedijk, J., 2008. Metal-ligand exchange kinetics in platinum and ruthenium complexes. Platinum Met. Rev. 52, 2–11.
- Ross, J.S., Schenkein, D.P., Pietrusko, R., Rolfe, M., Linette, G.P., Stec, J., Stagliano, N.E., Ginsburg, G.S., Symmans, W.F., Pusztai, L., Hortobagyi, G.N., 2004. Targeted therapies for cancer 2004. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 122, 598–609.
- Rubenstein, A.H., 2005. Obesity: a modern epidemic. Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc. 116, 103–111 (discussion 112–103).
- Ryan, T.P., Sloand, J.A., Winters, P.C., Corsetti, J.P., Fisher, S.G., 2007. Chronic kidney disease prevalence and rate of diagnosis. Am. J. Med. 120, 981–986.
- Salmain, M., Blais, J.C., Tran-Huy, H., Compain, C., Jaouen, G., 2001. Reaction of hen egg white lysozyme with Fischer-type metallocarbene complexes. Characterization of the conjugates and determination of the metal complex binding sites. Eur. J. Biochem. 268, 5479–5487.
- Sharpe, C.C., Hendry, B.M., 2003. Signaling: focus on Rho in renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, 261–264.
- Strutz, F., Neilson, E.G., 2003. New insights into mechanisms of fibrosis in immune renal injury. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 24, 459–476.
- Temming, K., Fretz, M.M., Kok, R.J., 2008. Organ- and cell-type specific delivery of kinase inhibitors: a novel approach in the development of targeted drugs. Curr. Mol. Pharmacol. 1, 1–12.
- Temming, K., Lacombe, M., Schaapveld, R.Q.J., Orfi, L., Keri, G., Poelstra, K., Molema, G., Kok, R.J., 2006a. Rational design of RGDalbumin conjugates for targeted delivery of the VEGF-R kinase inhibitor PTK787 to angiogenic endothelium. Chem. Med. Chem. 11, 1200–1203.
- Temming, K., Lacombe, M., van der Hoeven, P., Prakash, J., Gonzalo, T., Dijkers, E.C., Orfi, L., Keri, G., Poelstra, K., Molema, G., Kok, R.J., 2006b. Delivery of the p38 MAPkinase inhibitor SB202190 to angiogenic endothelial cells: development of novel RGD-equipped and PEGylated drug-albumin conjugates using platinum(II)-based drug linker technology. Bioconjug. Chem. 17, 1246–1255.
- Teske, C.A., Simon, R., Niebisch, A., Hubbuch, J., 2007. Changes in retention behavior of fluorescently labeled proteins during ion-exchange chromatography caused by different protein surface labeling positions. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 98, 193–200.
- Tuffin, G., Huwyler, J., Waelti, E., Hammer, C., Marti, H.P., 2008. Drug targeting using OX7-immunoliposomes: correlation between Thy1.1 antigen expression and tissue distribution in the rat. J. Drug Target 16, 156–166.
- Tuffin, G., Waelti, E., Huwyler, J., Hammer, C., Marti, H.P., 2005. Immunoliposome targeting to mesangial cells: a promising strategy for specific drug delivery to the kidney. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 3295–3305.
- van der Wouden, E.A., Sandovici, M., Henning, R.H., de Zeeuw, D., Deelman, L.E., 2004. Approaches and methods in gene therapy for kidney disease. J. Pharmacol. Toxicol. Methods 50, 13–24.
- Vlahos, C.J., McDowell, S.A., Clerk, A., 2003. Kinases as therapeutic targets for heart failure. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2, 99–113.
- Windt, W.A., Prakash, J., Kok, R.J., Moolenaar, F., Kluppel, C.A., de Zeeuw, D., van Dokkum, R.P., Henning, R.H., 2004. Renal targeting of captopril using captoprillysozyme conjugate enhances its antiproteinuric effect in adriamycin-induced nephrosis. J. Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. 5, 197–202.
- Yuan, Z.X., Sun, X., Gong, T., Ding, H., Fu, Y., Zhang, Z.R., 2007. Randomly 50% Nacetylated low molecular weight chitosan as a novel renal targeting carrier. J. Drug Target 15, 269–278.
- Zhang, M., Tang, J., Li, X., 2005. Interleukin-1beta-induced transdifferentiation of renal proximal tubular cells is mediated by activation of JNK and p38 MAPK. Nephron. Exp. Nephrol. 99, e68–e76.